1998

Margaret Lucille Lent v. Norman Floyd Lent : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to §78-2a-3(h), Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE NO. 1

Did Defendant reside, in the marital relationship, within this state, for purposes of in personam jurisdiction in a divorce proceeding, where he lived and worked in this state during the marriage but maintained his permanent domicile in another state?

ISSUE NO. 2

Did the Trial Court err by ruling that Utah does not have jurisdiction over Defendant where acts that created the irreconcilable differences that exist between the parties, and which were relied on in granting the Decree of Divorce, occurred in the State of Utah.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review of this appeal is *de novo* because the issue of jurisdiction is one of law. See *Liska v. Liska*, 902 P.2d 644, 646-47 (Utah App. 1995); *Holm v. Smilowitz*, 840 P.2d 157, 160 (Utah Ap. 1992).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES,

ORDINANCES AND RULES

Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-24(6) (1998)

Any person, notwithstanding Section 16-10a-1501, whether or not a citizen or resident of this state, who in person or through an agent does any of the following enumerated acts, submits himself, and if an individual, his personal representative, to the jurisdiction of the courts of this state as to any claim arising out of or related to . . .

(6) With respect to actions of divorce, separate maintenance, or child support, having resided, in the marital relationship, within this state notwithstanding subsequent departure from the state; or the commission in this state of the act giving rise to the claim, so long as that act is not a mere omission, failure to act, or occurrence over which the defendant had no control.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff filed a Verified Complaint for Divorce in this matter on May 14, 1997, seeking a divorce on the grounds of irreconcilable differences. Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction on or about September 10, 1997, claiming that he had not resided in Utah with the Plaintiff during their marriage.

In response to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, Plaintiff alleged that Defendant had lived in Utah on several occasions during the marriage while he worked on projects in this state. Plaintiff alleged that one of the differences between the parties that resulted in the action for divorce was Defendant's marital infidelity which occurred in Utah while he was working and living in this state. Plaintiff also claimed that Defendant had stayed at her residence in Utah on several occasions since she moved here in 1992, but she acknowledged they had not shared the same bed during those stays.

At a hearing held on November 10, 1997, the Trial Court denied the Motion to Dismiss.

As he was permitted to do, Defendant renewed his Motion to Dismiss on June 16, 1998, this time supported by his Affidavit, claiming that he had not engaged in any extra-marital relationship within the State of Utah.

Plaintiff responded to this Second Motion to Dismiss by acknowledging that she could not prove that Defendant's acts of infidelity occurred within the borders of the State of Utah, but maintained that he was living in Utah when the infidelity occurred.

At the hearing on Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, which was combined with a hearing on Plaintiff's Motion to Bifurcate, Plaintiff testified that grounds for the divorce included irreconcilable differences arising out of Defendant's excessive use of alcohol and that he had committed those acts in Utah. The Court granted the Motion to Bifurcate, finding that it had jurisdiction over the marriage, but also granted the Motion to Dismiss, ruling that Defendant did not have sufficient contacts with Utah for the Court to determine any issues other than dissolution of the marriage. This appeal followed that Order of Dismissal.

2. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Plaintiff and Defendant were married on March 27, 1954, in Riverside, Bingham County Idaho. (See Affidavit of Margaret Lucille Lent, filed September 29, 1997) (*R. at 26*)

During the parties' marriage the Defendant worked in the State of Utah on several occasions and, in several instances, for extended periods of time. (*R. at 26-27*)

The Defendant worked at a power plant in Castle Gate, Utah, from April of 1957 until some time during the month of July of 1957. Defendant lived in Utah that entire time. (*R. at 27*) Defendant brought the parties' children and Plaintiff to stay with him for about two weeks while he worked there. Plaintiff and Defendant stayed at a motel in, Helper, or one of the surrounding communities. (*R. at 27*)

In 1960, from March through July, the Defendant was working on a project at Geneva Steel in Utah County, Utah. He lived in Utah that entire time. The parties' children and Plaintiff accompanied the Defendant to the area where he worked. The Plaintiff and Defendant stayed at

a red brick colored complex where some of Defendant's associates were also living for the length of the project. Plaintiff believes the complex was on Main Street in Pleasant Grove, Utah County, Utah. The Plaintiff and Defendant resided together at that time for approximately two weeks. (*R. at 27*)

From April of 1961 until sometime in August of 1961 the Defendant worked on the construction of the Flaming Gorge Dam near Dutch John, Utah. During that time Defendant came to Pocatello to get Plaintiff and Defendant and Plaintiff traveled to the place he was living at in the Dutch John/ Manilla area of Utah (about 35 miles from Vernal). Plaintiff and Defendant and their children lived in a mobile unit designed like a complex with another couple occupying the other half while Defendant worked there. Plaintiff was there with him for approximately two weeks. (*R. at 27*)

On the instances that Plaintiff recalls when the Defendant was working in Utah and Plaintiff resided with him, the Defendant and Plaintiff clearly did so as husband and wife so that they could be together while Defendant worked in the State of Utah. They shared the same bed and Plaintiff maintained the home. (*R. at 27-28*)

In 1976, from March 10 until June 16, Defendant lived in Utah and worked on the Carbon Power Plant near Castlegate, Utah. (*R. at 28*)

There are numerous other instances when Defendant has lived and worked in Utah for shorter periods of time. (*R. at 28*)

One of the irreconcilable differences that developed during Plaintiff and the Defendant's marriage arose out of Defendant's marital infidelity. That marital infidelity occurred while the Defendant was working in the State of Utah. (*R. at 28*)

Defendant denies having engaged in any extra marital relationship within the State of

Utah. (*R. at 74-75*)

There was a four to five week period of time in approximately 1992, while Plaintiff was attending school in Provo, Utah, that the Defendant stayed at her apartment. Plaintiff and Defendant slept separately on that occasion because the sleeping facilities were limited to one small single bed. (*R. at 28*)

The Defendant and Plaintiff resided together at Plaintiff's residence in Provo while Defendant was working on a job on the boiler at the Brigham Young University campus in 1992 or 1993. Plaintiff and Defendant didn't share a bed on that occasion but Plaintiff fixed Defendant's lunch and other meals and did Defendant's laundry. (*R. at 28*)

There was an additional week when the Defendant came and resided with Plaintiff in Provo to repair Plaintiff's car. (*R. at 28-29*)

On another occasion, sometime in 1992 or 1993, Defendant stayed with Plaintiff on his way to a job at Delta, Utah. On that occasion Defendant became ill and was hospitalized in Delta with severe back pain. When Defendant was well enough to drive he came back to Provo to stay at Plaintiff's apartment. Defendant ultimately did return to Pocatello on that occasion. (*R. at 29*)

While Plaintiff was in Provo the Defendant spent Thanksgiving and Christmas with Plaintiff there. On one occasion Plaintiff and Defendant had Thanksgiving dinner with a family at the Excelsior Hotel and Defendant helped with gift wrapping and Christmas lights. (*R. at 29*)

Because of tax advantages the Defendant and Plaintiff had declared Idaho as their permanent residence. As Plaintiff understood it the Defendant was able to deduct rent and expenses in other states if they did so. However, there have been numerous instances during the parties' marriage, as indicated above, when the Plaintiff claims that Defendant has resided in the

State of Utah while working and, on occasion, Plaintiff has joined him here. (*R. at 29*)

Although Defendant does not deny Plaintiff's allegations concerning his work history and where he lived while working in Utah, he did sign an affidavit in which he claimed that he had "never been a resident of the State of Utah." (*R. at 74*)

Although the Plaintiff cannot prove that the Defendant's act of sexual intercourse with another woman occurred within the boundaries of the State of Utah, the Defendant has engaged in acts of sexual intercourse while he was living and working in the State of Utah. The Plaintiff confronted the Defendant about whether he had had sexual intercourse with another woman during one of the times he lived in Utah and he did not deny that he had sex with another woman. In fact, his response was, "Everybody has slept with her, including Butch." (*R. at 73*)

The Plaintiff has seen a Utah birth certificate for a child born approximately 35 years ago and Defendant was listed as the father on that birth certificate. Plaintiff has attempted to locate a copy of that birth certificate and has been unable to do so. (*R. at 72*)

Although the Defendant and Plaintiff do have assets in the State of Idaho, the Defendant is a member of the Boilermakers Local Union No. 182 in Salt Lake City, Utah. This is the source of Defendant's retirement plan. (*R. at 29-30*)

At trial the Plaintiff testified that, since 1995, the Defendant had spent time in her home, including staying overnight in her home although the parties have not shared the same bedroom. She also testified that one of the irreconcilable differences that arose between the parties during their marriage was the Defendant's consumption of alcohol in the State of Utah. (*R. at 106 page 13-17*)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Although the Defendant did not officially change his domicile, he did reside in the

marital relationship within the state as required by UCA §78-27-24(6) in the following particulars:

- (1) He resided in the State of Utah while the parties were married and he worked in the State of Utah;
- (2) He resided with the Plaintiff for brief periods of time while she lived in the State of Utah since 1995.

The irreconcilable differences that exist between the parties and resulted in the entry of a Decree of Divorce included not only infidelity, which the Plaintiff is unable to prove actually occurred within the boundaries of the State of Utah, but the Defendant's use and abuse of alcohol, which Plaintiff did testify at trial occurred within the State of Utah as recently as since 1995. Therefore, Plaintiff maintains that at least some of the "acts" giving rise to the Plaintiff's claim of irreconcilable differences arising out of Defendant's alcohol use were committed in this state.

Since the Defendant did reside in the marital relationship within this state and acts giving rise to the Plaintiff's claim for divorce based on irreconcilable differences were also committed in this state, the Trial Court had jurisdiction over Defendant and should not have dismissed the Plaintiff's Complaint for want of in personam jurisdiction.

ARGUMENT

Utah Code Annotated §78-27-24(6) provides as follows:

"Any person . . . who . . . does any of the following enumerated acts, submits himself, . . . to the jurisdiction of the courts of this state as to any claim arising from: (6) with respect to actions of divorce, separate maintenance, or child support, having resided, in the marital relationship, within this state notwithstanding subsequent departure from the

state; or the commission in this state of the act giving rise to the claim, so long as that act is not a mere omission, failure to act, or occurrence over which the Respondent had no control; . . .”

If the Defendant “resided, in the marital relationship, within this state” or if Defendant committed any act in this state giving rise to Plaintiff’s claim, then this Court has jurisdiction over the Defendant.

A. DEFENDANT RESIDED IN THE MARITAL RELATIONSHIP IN THIS STATE.

Plaintiff does not maintain that the Defendant was an “actual and bonafide resident” of this state, as would be required under UCA §30-3-1(2) if Plaintiff were seeking to have this Court exercise jurisdiction over the subject matter of the case based on Defendant’s “actual and bonafide” residency. There is clearly a difference between actual and bonafide residence of the county in which the proceeding is commenced in order to confer subject matter jurisdiction and “residence in the marital relationship” in order to confer jurisdiction over a party. The Fifth District Court has jurisdiction over the Defendant because he resided in this state while working here for periods of time during the parties’ marriage. He did so on several occasions during the parties’ marriage in conjunction with his employment and while the Plaintiff was attending school in Utah County.

The terms “resided” and “marital relationship” will be considered separately in analyzing whether Defendant’s conduct satisfies the minimal contacts required for in personam jurisdiction in a divorce proceeding.

The term “marital relationship” means nothing more than that the parties are married i.e., had the relationship of husband and wife, at the time the event occurred. In essence, this means

that if a party resided in the State of Utah prior to being married and never resided in the State of Utah while the parties' were married this Court would not have jurisdiction over that party since the residence in the State of Utah had not occurred during the marital relationship i.e. while the parties' were married.

In this instance, the acts which the Plaintiff claims give rise to this Court's exercise of jurisdiction over the Defendant, including Defendant's residence in this state, did occur while the parties' were married i.e. during the marital relationship.

The next key term that needs to be considered is the term "reside."

Had the Utah State legislature intended that a party have been an "actual and bonafide resident" of the State of Utah during the marital relationship in order for this Court to assert jurisdiction the legislature clearly could have done so. However, the legislature, instead, chose to grant jurisdiction over a party if he had resided, during the marriage, in this State. The distinction between "actual and bonafide resident, " required under UCA §30-3-1 to confer subject matter jurisdiction and "residing" in the state for a period of time in order to confer in personam jurisdiction is not insignificant.

There is a distinction between "actual and bonafide residence" and residence in the state.

In 25 Am Jur 2d Domicile §4 the commentator notes that:

"'Residence' may mean a temporary, permanent, or transient character; or it may means one's fixed abode, depending on the particular object of it's use. In determining it's meaning as it is used in particular pieces of legislation, it's context within the statute and the legislative purpose are examined. Thus, in some instances, residence requires mere physical presence, while in others something more than physical presence is required and the element of intent becomes material, even where "residence" is not deemed to be the equivalent of a "domicile."

In 25 Am Jur 2d Domicile § 6 the commentator notes as follows:

"A distinction between "legal residence" and "actual residence" has been recognized.

“Actual residence” has connotations of a more temporary character, while the phrase “legal residence” is sometimes used as the equivalent of domicile.”

The term “actual and bonafide resident” is more akin to the “legal residence” referred to in Am Jur 2d Domicile. On the other hand, the legislature’s use of the term “resident,” without any limitations, is more like the term “actual residence” as used in the Am Jur 2d Domicile article. The legislature quite clearly intended that a party reside in the State of Utah during the marriage, i.e., live in this state, not that he have attained the status of “legal residence” in order to confer in personam jurisdiction.

In *Snelling v. Gardner*, 590 N.E. P.2d 330 (Ohio App. 1990) the Ohio Court of Appeals noted, in reversing a trial court’s failure to assume in personam jurisdiction under URESA that

“The trial court, however, appears to have grounded its decision upon an assumption that respondent’s residence is equivalent to respondent’s domicile. Although the terms “residence” and “domicile” are frequently used interchangeably, they in fact are distinctly different, albeit related, concepts. [citations omitted] ‘Domicile’ has most often been defined as a legal relationship between a person and a particular place which contemplates two factors: first, residence, at least for some period of time and, second, the intent to reside in that place permanently or at least indefinitely. [citations omitted]

Thus, ‘residence’ is encompassed within the definition of ‘domicile.’ An important distinction, however, lies in the fact that, while a person can only have one domicile, he generally may have more than one residence.” [citations omitted] *Id at 332-333*.

In *Snelling* the trial court concluded that, while the State of Ohio was not the respondent’s domicile he was capable of having multiple residence and that he had resided in the State of Ohio.

Plaintiff does not claim that the Defendant was domiciled in the State of Utah. However, just as the respondent in *Snelling* resided in the State of Ohio, the Defendant in this proceeding resided in the State of Utah in the marital relationship.

The Utah State Legislature clearly intended that the Defendant in a divorce proceeding

have some contact with this state more than just passing through the state or staying overnight on vacation. However, to live or reside in the state while working here for weeks at a time, even if a party retained his legal domicile in another state, would satisfy that requirement.

In this case the Defendant resided in the State of Utah for periods of time during the parties' marriage while he worked on various projects in conjunction with his full-time employment. Joint residency in this state does not appear to be required by the statute i.e. the statute does not appear to require that the parties have slept in the same bed in this state. However, on occasion when the Plaintiff did come and reside with the Defendant in this state the Plaintiff and Defendant did share the same bed and maintain a marital household.

The Defendant clearly had the benefits of the laws of the State of Utah while he resided in this state in conjunction with his employment. Although he may never have acquired the status of legal domicile, his actual residence in this state is sufficient to confer jurisdiction over him in this divorce proceeding.

B. THE ACTS GIVING RISE TO PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM OCCURRED IN THIS STATE.

1. Marital Infidelity

Plaintiff claims that the irreconcilable differences that exist arose out of, among other things, Defendant's marital infidelity and alcohol abuse. Plaintiff could not prove that the Defendant committed sexual intercourse within the boundaries of the State of Utah. However his instances of infidelity did occur while he was working in the State of Utah and, therefore, the irreconcilable differences arose while he was in this state, even if the actual acts of sexual intercourse were consummated in a neighboring state. Therefore, although Plaintiff might not be able to prove that the Defendant engaged in sexual intercourse within the boundaries of the State

of Utah, if the infidelity occurred during a period of time that Defendant was residing in the State of Utah, working on projects in this State, and the grounds for divorce are irreconcilable differences, arising out of, among other things, the Defendant's marital infidelity, a trial court in Utah should assert jurisdiction based on UCA §78-27-24(6). That statute should not be restricted so as to protect a person from the jurisdiction of a court of this state where the party is residing in the State of Utah at the time the marital infidelity occurred but steps across the state line, if that is the case, in order to consummate a specific act of infidelity.

2. ALCOHOL USE

UCA §78-27-24(6) "indicates that this court has jurisdiction over a person who commits in this state . . .the act giving rise to the claim, . . ." In this instance as in many divorces it is impossible to isolate one specific act that created the irreconcilable differences. There are typically numerous acts that eventually result in a conclusion that the differences between the parties are irreconcilable. In this instance, the Defendant's use and abuse of alcohol is an act, or acts, that occurred on numerous occasions but also which occurred in the State of Utah.

The evidence before the Court in this instance established that the Defendant had committed the act of alcohol use and that this act, or these acts, created one of the irreconcilable differences which resulted in this divorce. Defendant had committed that act, or acts, in the State of Utah. Since that act, the use of alcohol, occurred within this state and that is the act or, at least, one of the acts giving rise to the Plaintiff's claim for irreconcilable differences, and the trial court granted the Plaintiff a divorce on the grounds of irreconcilable differences, the trial court had jurisdiction over the Defendant and should have heard the remainder of the pending case.

Since the act or acts which resulted in irreconcilable differences were committed by the

Defendant within the State of Utah, the trial court erred when it dismissed the Plaintiff's Complaint for lack of in personam jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

Although the Defendant did not officially change his domicile or full-time residence, the Defendant did reside in marital relationship within the State of Utah. He worked for extensive periods of time in the State of Utah while maintaining a domicile in the State of Idaho. He resided in Utah during those periods of time. The Defendant also resided with the Plaintiff for brief periods of time since 1995 while she was living in Provo, Utah and attending school. The trial court had jurisdiction over the Defendant based on his having resided in the marital relationship in the State of Utah.

The irreconcilable differences that arose between the parties arose because of acts committed by the Defendant while he was residing in the State of Utah. Although the Plaintiff could not prove to the trial court that the sexual act that evidenced the Defendant's marital infidelity occurred within the boundaries of the state, she did present testimony which was accepted by the trial court that the act of alcohol use and abuse occurred within the boundaries of the State of Utah and that the alcohol use and abuse was an irreconcilable difference that resulted in the Plaintiff's seeking a Decree of Divorce.

The trial court had jurisdiction over the Defendant both because the Defendant had resided in the marital relationship within the State of Utah and because the Defendant had committed acts in the State of Utah giving rise to the Plaintiff's claim for a divorce based on irreconcilable differences and, therefore, the trial court should not have dismissed the Plaintiff's Complaint. The trial court's Order dismissing the Plaintiff's Complaint should be set aside and the Plaintiff should be permitted to proceed to a trial on the merits in the State of Utah to resolve

the remaining issues between the parties.