1998

Margaret Lucille Lent v. Norman Floyd Lent : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The irreconcilable differences of the parties existed at the time that Mrs. Lent separated from her husband in 1989 and moved herself to the state of Utah. Thus, such differences did not arise within the state of Utah. Additionally, Mrs. Lent's argument that Mr. Lent's alcohol consumption

was an irreconcilable difference that occurred within the state of Utah was objected to at the time of the final hearing, as that was the first time it had ever been raised in any of the pleadings or proceedings.

The issue of whether the parties resided in the state of Utah in the marital relationship should not be heard by this Court as it was not preserved by Mrs. Lent in her notice of appeal nor in her docketing statement which required her to set forth the issues before this Court. However, the parties did not reside together in the marital relationship as contemplated by the statute. Their residence was the state of Idaho. Intermittent work and/or vacations into a neighboring state do not constitute “residing together” as the statute requires for the state of Utah to assume jurisdiction over an entire marital estate.

ARGUMENT

Point 1. There is only one issue raised in this appeal.

Mrs. Lent filed a Docketing Statement dated September 22, 1998. In the Docketing Statement, Mrs. Lent raised one issue for review in this appeal. That issue was “Did the trial court err by ruling that Utah does not have jurisdiction over defendant where acts that created the irreconcilable differences that existed between the parties and which were relied on in granting the Decree of Divorce occurred in the state of Utah?” The Docketing Statement was filed pursuant to the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, and specifically Rule 9. Rule 9 of those rules requires that all issues presented by the appeal must be set forth with particularity and that general conclusions are not allowed. Mrs. Lent’s issue in her Docketing Statement is a particular issue and is the issue on this appeal.

However, in Mrs. Lent’s brief she has now raised a second issue which relates to the parties residing in the marital estate together for

purposes of conferring jurisdiction on the Utah court over Mr. Lent, an Idaho resident. This issue should not be heard as it was not raised in the Notice of Appeal or in the Docketing Statement, and was raised for the first time in Mrs. Lent's brief. This procedural deficiency should operate against Mrs. Lent and should not be considered by this Court. However, Mr. Lent will address that issue later in this brief, not as a waiver of the procedural deficiency, but to address the issue in the event this Court does waive that procedural deficiency.

Point 2. Jurisdictional standards for asserting long-arm jurisdiction.

Utah Courts have adopted a two-part inquiry in determining whether they can exercise personal jurisdiction over non-residents. See Kamdar & Company v. Laray Company 815 P2d 245 (Ut. App. 1991) and cases cited therein. First, claims against a non-resident must arise from the activities enumerated in Utah's long-arm statute, and second, the defendant's contacts must be sufficient to allow jurisdiction to be exercised without violation of the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

In related situations (not domestic) under the long-arm statute, courts have frequently stated that under the due process inquiry, a defendant's contacts with our state must be purposeful; that one avail himself of the privilege of conducting activities within our state; that he reasonably anticipated being hailed into court here; and that the maintenance of the suit does not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. See Burt Drilling, Inc. v. Portadrill 608 P2d 244 (Utah 1980); Anderson v. American Society of Plastic & Reconstructive Surgeons 807 P2d 825 (Utah

1990), Parry v. Ernst Home Center Corporation 779 P2d 659 (Utah 1989); Kamdar & Company v. Laray Company 815 P2d 245 (Ut. App. 1991).

These directives, when applied to the Lent's domestic situation, indicate that Utah lacks jurisdiction over Mr. Lent. However, to further justify such holding, a comment from Parry v. Ernst Home Center Corporation 779 P2d 659 (Utah 1989), is helpful.

The United States Supreme Court stated that additional factors for inquiry include the burden on the defendant, the interests of the forum state, and the plaintiff's interest in obtaining relief. It must also "weigh in it's determination "the interstate judicial system's interest in obtaining the most efficient resolution of controversies; and the shared interest of the several states in furthering fundamental substantive social policies" Id. 729 P2d at 661.

The Lent's married and lived in Idaho, their assets are there, their differences or inability to get along arose there. Then, Mrs. Lent moved out and came to Utah. While they tried a little bit to reconcile, it never worked. Therefore, these parties are divorced. Logic, common sense, and the law all support the action being done in Idaho, not Utah. The Utah District Court was correct when it dismissed the complaint and concluded that as to Mr. Lent, there was not a sufficient basis to maintain personal jurisdiction over him in Utah.

The Utah Court held an evidentiary hearing regarding the issue of jurisdiction over Mr. Lent. Mrs. Lent had the burden of proving jurisdiction by a preponderance of the evidence. Kamdar & Company v. Laray Company 815 P2d 245 (Ut. App. 1991). Her facts do not reach that level of proof. The lower Court's conclusion that it did not have jurisdiction is not clearly erroneous, and should be upheld.

Point 3. Irreconcilable differences existed at the time of the parties' separation in Idaho in 1989.

Mrs. Lent argues that the irreconcilable differences existing between the parties occurred within the state of Utah. This argument is actually defeated by her own verified complaint and the final pleadings on the divorce which was granted. In her verified complaint, and particularly paragraph 4, she indicates that the parties did develop irreconcilable differences during their marriage. She admits that she separated in January of 1989 and moved from Idaho to Utah and that she and Mr. Lent did not live together as husband and wife thereafter. She indicated in her verified complaint that they made efforts to reconcile their differences by visiting each other after their separation in 1989, even though they maintained separate residences after their separation. Finally, she states that despite their efforts to reconcile, those irreconcilable differences remained. The final Findings of Fact are similar in content to the facts she alleged in her verified complaint. She now would ask this Court to hold that the irreconcilable differences were committed in this state, and thus confers upon Utah courts complete jurisdiction to handle the divorce matters.

Under Utah law, irreconcilable differences are not fault-based. See Haumont v. Haumont 793 P2d 421 (Ut. App. 1990). This raises an issue as to what acts and whose acts created the irreconcilable differences, as it relates to Utah's long-arm statute in U.C.A. §78-27-24(6). It is apparent from Mrs. Lent's pleadings that she had irreconcilable differences with her husband prior to her separation in January of 1989. At the final hearing when the Decree of Divorce was granted, she then, for the first time, testified that Mr. Lent had consumed alcohol within the state of Utah since their separation and that that was one of the issues that she had for

irreconcilable differences. Her testimony was objected to on the basis that it was the first time in the history of the case that she had raised alcohol as an issue for the divorce. The issue of alcohol consumption was raised for the first time at the hearing when Mr. Lent was not present and could not defend himself. Furthermore, per her own Verified Complaint, she already had irreconcilable differences before she ever resided in the state of Utah. Thus, Mr. Lent's alcohol consumption in the state of Utah, after separation, while it may have kept the parties from reconciling, was not a cause of their irreconcilable differences, which already existed prior thereto. Mrs. Lent's testimony concerning the alcoholism and counsel's objection to the same is found in the transcript pages 13-17.

It is noted that in these proceedings, Mr. Lent actually filed two motions to dismiss which were heard by the Court. At the first hearing, the Court denied the motion to dismiss on the basic presumption that Mrs. Lent had raised the issue of infidelity within the state of Utah as a grounds for the divorce. Alcoholism was not raised in the first motion to dismiss, nor even in the pleadings filed in the second motion to dismiss.

Mrs. Lent did raise an issue of infidelity within the state of Utah. Mr. Lent specifically refuted her allegations and stated that he did not engage in any extra-marital affair within the state of Utah ever. Mrs. Lent finally admitted that she could not prove any infidelity in the state of Utah. She makes hearsay statements concerning a birth certificate, which she acknowledges she could not find. Based upon Mrs. Lent's own admission that she could not prove any infidelity in the state of Utah, there is no basis to conclude or determine that an act of infidelity occurred within the state of Utah giving her grounds for divorce within this state. It is also noted with the infidelity issue that if indeed it had occurred outside of Utah, and was

used by Mrs. Lent as a grounds for her irreconcilable differences that it, too, existed at the time the parties separated in 1989, and cannot be used to confer jurisdiction over Mr. Lent, in the Utah Court.

It is also interesting to note that Mrs. Lent's allegation of infidelity occurred approximately 35 years ago when the parties were both admittedly living in the state of Idaho. See record at page 72. It is incongruous with the principles of personal jurisdiction to allege an act occurring 35 years ago as the basis for conferring jurisdiction in this state, when after that act, the parties lived together in the state of Idaho for at least an additional 25 years. It should not be the place of Utah Courts to allow a party to sit upon an alleged act for 25 years, move to a neighboring state, and then attempt to use that act as giving rise to personal jurisdiction in the neighboring state, being Utah.

Point 4. The parties did not reside together in Utah.

The parties did not reside in the state of Utah in the marital relationship. This issue was not preserved in this appeal and should not be heard by this Court. However, the argument is very simple to establish. The provisions of Utah's long-arm statute as it relates to divorce and found in Utah Code Annotated §78-27-24(6) were designed to confer jurisdiction on this Court for parties who actually live in or have lived in this state together.

If we were to accept Mrs. Lent's argument, then any couple who has ever been to the state of Utah could later come back, establish their three month residency, and invoke the jurisdiction of the Court for a divorce. A couple's contacts with the state could be in the nature of work, temporary work, as Mr. Lent has done, for vacations as many people travel, conventions which our state or it's entities host, or any other number of

draws that the state of Utah has for people traveling together. Under Mrs. Lent's theory, as soon as a man and wife cross the Utah border, they are residing in our state in the marital relationship. That term should not be construed so broadly. It should more naturally be construed in its logical sense, and that is in conjunction with an actual residency. It should mean an intent upon those parties' parts to live and make Utah their home together and signify something more than the temporary transient situations which temporary work, conventions, and vacations portray. This is especially true in the Lent's situation where they openly admit that their residence was in Bannock County, state of Idaho, and has been for not just a few years, but for, in essence, their entire marital relationship which lasted some 44 years.

It is urged that this Court accept the term of "resided within the marital relationship" as provided in the long-arm statute to have a similar meaning, at least as to the time element, as that found in the jurisdictional requirements of Utah Code Annotated §30-3-1(2). For purposes of jurisdiction, the parties should have at least resided in Utah together with an intent to make this their home for the requisite period of time. Thereafter, if they choose to move and establish a different home base and then later separate, and one or the other move back to Utah, then it would be appropriate for Utah courts to then assert personal jurisdiction over both of the parties. To define residence as meaning less than this simply opens the door to an abuse of the jurisdictional requirements of the Utah court system and to an abuse of legal due process.

While the term residence can and has taken different meanings in different situations, it is urged that this Court take the provisions of Title 30 and actual bona fide residence for jurisdictional purposes, combine that with

the long-arm statute and the provisions of residing within this state, and harmonize them to require not just transitory situations in Utah, but some type of permanent intent upon the parties to stay here and make this state both their homes before asserting jurisdiction in a divorce situation.

It is only logical that Idaho handle the divorce issues between these parties where they resided for over 35 years together before Mrs. Lent decided to separate from Mr. Lent, and then unilaterally moved to the state of Utah and made this her permanent home. Mrs. Lent's reliance upon the Ohio case added in their brief, I believe, is distinguishable simply because it is a Uresa action for support, and not an initial divorce action with the very basic provisions of the divorce itself.